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*332 I. Introduction
A person who believes he has invented something may apply for a patent by submitting an application to the United States
Patent and Trademark Office (PTO).1 During the PTO’s 1998 fiscal year, more than 240,000 people filed nearly a quarter
million patent applications.2 Patent applicants can prosecute applications on their own, with the assistance of a registered
patent agent, or with the assistance of an attorney who is registered to prosecute patents before the PTO.3 This article
analyzes the ethical and liability issues that may arise when an attorney or law firm agrees to prosecute patents in the same
area of technology for more than one client at the same time.
Patent prosecution is extremely complicated and can involve arcane practices. Thus, the attorney-client relationship involved
in patent prosecution is unique:
The practice of patent law is one of the most complex and difficult today. The proceedings and forms not
only require an extensive knowledge of the legal field but also considerable experience in engineering.

...In conjunction with the inherent difficulty of the practice, the patent attorney has greater control over the processing of the
application and the determination of the extent of the rights granted under the patent than is found in any other attorney-client
relation.4 *333 In addition to requiring the attorney to know the intricacies of patent law as well as the details of the
engineering or science involved in the application, the attorney’s agreement to represent the client in prosecuting a patent
application imposes a number of duties on the attorney. The duty that will be primarily examined here is that every person
substantively involved in the prosecution of a patent application has a duty to disclose to the PTO information material to the
patentability of the invention claimed in that application.5 Thus, merely hiring an attorney to prosecute a patent expands the
duty of disclosure: Without an attorney, only the applicant’s knowledge is at issue. Upon hiring an attorney, however
material information known to the attorney, even if not known to the applicant, must be disclosed by the attorney and anyone
else involved in the patent prosecution. The failure of any person substantively involved in prosecuting a patent application to
disclose all information known to the person can result in the patent later being held unenforceable, even if the applicant was
unaware of the information or of its importance to the question of whether the invention is patentable.6
The expansion of the duty to disclose is significant because of the practical realities of prosecuting patent applications. First,
attorneys who prosecute patents typically do so only within the technological fields they are familiar with. Thus, attorneys
with electrical engineering degrees typically prosecute patent applications in the field of their expertise, rather than
applications outside the realm of their knowledge, such as those involving biotechnology. Because of prior experience in
prosecuting patents in related areas, an attorney might know of additional patents, articles, and information that may be
material to the patentability of the invention that the applicant is unaware of.
Second, unless the attorney prosecutes patents solely for one client, the attorney may be aware of information in a second
client’s patent application that is material to the first client’s application. Suppose, for example, that the attorney is
prosecuting two patent applications for two different clients, and the applications disclose inventions that are each material to
the patentability of the other. Does the attorney have a duty to disclose the information contained in one client’s application
to the PTO while prosecuting the other client’s application?

Third, attorneys typically practice in firms with many attorneys prosecuting patents for many distinct clients. As a result,
other attorneys directly associated with a prosecuting attorney may know of additional information material to patentability
of a patent application that neither the prosecuting attorney nor the applicant are aware of. Does each attorney in a firm
presumptively know all information known to every other attorney in the firm, either for purposes of conflicts of interest or
for determining whether inequitable conduct has occurred?
*334 The conflicts of interest that can result when attorneys prosecute patents for different clients in related technologies is
the subject of a split decision by the United States Court of Appeals for the Federal Circuit (“Federal Circuit”), and leaves
many key issues open to dispute.7 In addition, some firms are creating “Chinese walls” or “ethical screens,” which result in a
myriad of unaddressed issues. For example, a firm that sets up a Chinese wall instructs its attorneys who are prosecuting
patents for different clients in related areas not to discuss the applications among themselves in order to avoid triggering a
disclosure obligation to the PTO.
This article analyzes: (1) Whether an attorney who is aware of one client’s pending application has a duty to disclose that
application to the PTO when it is material to the patentability of a second client’s application; (2) Whether the knowledge of
attorneys practicing in the same firm is imputed to all attorneys in the firm for the purpose of (a) determining the existence of
conflicts of interest, or (b) fulfilling the duty of disclosure to the PTO; and (3) Whether the creation of a Chinese wall or
ethical screen within a firm is an effective means to (a) prevent conflicts of interest among attorneys in the same firm, or (b)
preclude the likelihood that attorneys in a firm prosecuting patents for different clients in related technologies must disclose
all material and confidential information known to each attorney.
II. Applicable Law
A. The PTO Code
The Patent and Trademark Office Code of Professional Responsibility (“PTO Code”)8 governs “solely the practice of patent,
trademark, and other law before the Patent and Trademark Office.”9 Thus, for example, the PTO Code applies in opposition
and interference proceedings, as well as in the typical ex parte prosecution.10
The PTO Code likely preempts all state law governing attorney conduct during prosecution, since it preempts state law “to
the extent necessary for the Patent and Trademark Office to accomplish its Federal objectives.”11 Consequently, the PTO
Code governs the conduct of attorneys while they prosecute patents to the exclusion *335 of traditional state regulations-- for
example, through licensing--to the extent necessary for the PTO to meet its objectives.
The three ethical principles codified in the PTO Code that are particularly relevant to attorneys who prosecute patents for
multiple clients include: (1) rules governing conflicts of interest; (2) rules protecting client confidentiality; and (3) rules
requiring disclosure and candor to the PTO.
1. Conflicts of Interest
The relevant provision of the PTO Code governing conflicts of interest provides:
(a) A practitioner shall decline proffered employment if the exercise of the practitioner’s independent
professional judgment in behalf of a client will be or is likely to be adversely affected by the acceptance
of the proffered employment, or if it would be likely to involve the practitioner in representing differing
interests, except to the extent permitted under paragraph (c) of this section.

(b) A practitioner shall not continue multiple employment if the exercise of the practitioner’s independent professional
judgment in behalf of a client will be or is likely to be adversely affected by the practitioner’s representation of another client,
or if it would be likely to involve the practitioner in representing differing interests, except to the extent permitted under
paragraph (c) of this section.

(c) In the situations covered by paragraphs (a) and (b) of this section a practitioner may represent multiple clients if it is
obvious that the practitioner can adequately represent the interest of each and if each consents to the representation after full
disclosure of the possible effect of such representation on the exercise of the practitioner’s independent professional
judgment on behalf of each.12
2. Client Confidentiality
The PTO Code requires an attorney to preserve “the confidences and secrets of a client.”13 The term “confidences” is defined
as “information protected by the attorney-client or agent-client privilege under applicable law.”14 The term “‘[s]ecret’ refers
to other information gained in the professional relationship that the client has requested be held inviolate or the disclosure of
which would be embarrassing or would be likely to be detrimental to the client.”15 The PTO Code prohibits revealing
confidences or secrets, or using them to the disadvantage of the client, or to the advantage of the attorney or a third person,
unless the client consents.16
*336 The PTO Code does permit, but does not require, revelation of confidences under specific circumstances, including:
(1) Confidences or secrets that affect the client, but only after full disclosure to and the consent of the client;
(2) Confidences or secrets that may be disclosed under the Disciplinary Rules or as required by law or court order;
(3) Confidences or secrets of a client intending to commit a crime if the information is necessary to prevent the crime.17
3. Disclosure and Candor to the PTO
Several provisions of the PTO Code require honesty and full disclosure, and thus represent rules that would permit an
attorney to disclose client confidences to the PTO.18 Foremost, it is “misconduct” for an attorney to “[e]ngage in conduct
involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit, or misrepresentation.”19 Such conduct is specifically defined to include “[k]nowingly
giving false or misleading information or knowingly participating in a material way in giving false or misleading information
[to the PTO],”20 as well as “[k]nowingly violating or causing to be violated the requirements of [37 C.F.R. § 1.56].”21
Thus, on its face the PTO Code essentially, if repetitiously,22 requires the attorney to comply with the substantive duty of
candor set forth under 37 C.F.R. § 1.56. Consequently, an analysis of Rule 1.56 should answer what is necessary for an
attorney to satisfy the disclosure requirements of the PTO Code. In other words, since Rule 1.56 determines what must be
disclosed to the PTO, if Rule 1.56 is not violated, then neither is the PTO Code.
Taken together, the disclosure requirements and the duty of confidentiality permit an attorney to disclose client “confidences”
and “secrets” when it is necessary to fulfill the attorney’s duty of candor under Rule 1.56. While the attorney clearly is not
required to disclose client confidences, the PTO Code just as clearly prohibits the attorney from withholding information
required to comply with Rule 1.56 from the PTO. If an attorney cannot disclose client confidences or secrets because, for
*337 example, the client refuses to give the attorney permission to do so, but the attorney must disclose the information in
order to avoid committing “misconduct” by breaching the section 1.56 duty of candor, the PTO Code requires an attorney to
withdraw from the representation.
B. The Section 1.56 Duty of Candor
The duty of candor owed by all persons substantively involved in the prosecution of patent applications is contained in 37
C.F.R. § 1.56. Section 1.56 provides in part:
A patent by its very nature is affected with a public interest. The public interest is best served, and the
most effective patent examination occurs when, at the time an application is being examined, the Office
is aware of and evaluates the teachings of all information material to patentability. Each individual
associated with the filing and prosecution of a patent application has a duty of candor and good faith in
dealing with the Office, which includes a duty to disclose to the Office all information known to that
individual to be material to patentability as defined in this section.23

Defining the contours of the duty of candor is beyond the scope of this article. However, all persons involved in the merits of
prosecuting an application--excluding clerical workers and the like--have a duty to disclose information that a reasonable
examiner would consider important in determining whether the claimed invention is patentable. For example, this duty would
include disclosing to the examiner the closest piece of prior art that the person is aware of, and can also include other relevant
information, such as sales or offers for sale.
C. Substantive Patent Law
Two statutes are of particular relevance to the ethical obligations of prosecuting attorneys. First, under 35 U.S.C. § 122,
patent applications must “be kept in confidence by the Patent and Trademark Office and no information concerning the same
given without authority of the applicant or owner unless necessary to carry out the provisions of any Act of Congress or in
such special circumstances as may be determined by the Commissioner.”24 This provision is significant because the mere
existence of a patent application does not necessarily mean it is “confidential” client information i.e., it is not privileged, but
because of this statute, a pending patent application typically constitutes “secret” client information.
Second, a violation of 37 C.F.R. § 1.56 can constitute inequitable conduct--a form of unenforceability--that by statute, is an
affirmative defense to patent infringement.25 To prove inequitable conduct, the accused infringer must show by *338 clear
and convincing evidence that a person involved with the prosecution of the patent made an “affirmative misrepresentation of
a material fact, [failed] to disclose material information, or [submitted] false material information, coupled with an intent to
deceive.”26 If just a single instance of inequitable conduct is proven, then the entire patent is deemed unenforceable, and
therefore, is worthless. Thus, a patent attorney’s failure to comply with the duty of candor can constitute a complete defense
to the enforcement of the client’s patent.
III. Ethical Issues Facing the Solo Practitioner Who Represents Multiple Patent Applicants
An attorney cannot undertake or continue to represent a client when doing so would violate the PTO Code.27 It is clear that an
individual attorney could not prosecute competing patent applications on the same invention for different clients, at least not
without client consent, since the attorney would plainly be “representing differing interests.”28 As discussed below, an
attorney also cannot represent one client if during the course of that representation the attorney is required to disclose
information to the PTO that is a confidence or secret of a second client without the consent of the second client.
A. Brief Overview of Patent Prosecution and the Disclosure Obligation
As noted above, patent prosecution is an ex parte confidential process, conducted without the involvement or knowledge of
anyone except the PTO, the *339 applicant and the applicant’s agents. After the PTO receives a patent application, the
application is assigned to one of the many hundreds of “examiners” employed by the PTO.29 Each examiner specializes in a
particular area of technology, and therefore is familiar with the state of the art in that particular field.
After the application is assigned, the examiner reviews (or examines) the application to determine whether it discloses a
patentable invention.30 To be patentable, an invention must be new, non-obvious, and useful.31 To determine whether an
invention is new and non-obvious, the examiner must compare the disclosed invention to the “prior art.”32 The examiner also
searches the PTO records for prior art and compares the prior art found to the claims in the patent application.33
A patent applicant has no obligation to search the prior art to determine whether the disclosed invention is in fact new, useful,
and non-obvious. By hiring an attorney to prosecute the patent application, the applicant necessarily expands the scope of the
duty of disclosure regarding the application to the PTO to include all material information known to the attorney. In most
instances, this duty simply involves disclosing prior art to the PTO that the attorney is actually aware of. By definition, prior
art is public information; the fact that an attorney knows this public information does not make the information privileged or
confidential. Therefore, if an attorney prosecuting a patent application on behalf of one client is aware of public information
that is material to that application, the attorney must disclose the information even if the attorney became aware of the
information while representing another client. Public information normally does not become “secret” or “confidential”
merely because an attorney learns of it during the course of representing a client.

However, troubling issues arise when the information known by the attorney is “secret,” as for example, one client of an
attorney has disclosed to the lawyer information material to another client’s application. To fulfill the attorney’s duty of
candor to the PTO, the attorney must disclose that information; but to fulfill the attorney’s duty of confidentiality to the
second client, the attorney must keep the information confidential. Thus, the conundrum: Failing to disclose the information
could result in unenforceability of the first client’s patent, while disclosing the information would breach the attorney’s duty
of confidentiality to the second client.
*340 B. Does An Attorney Who Becomes Aware of a Client’s Pending Application Have a Duty to Disclose That
Application to the PTO if It Is Material to the Patentability of a Second Client’s Application?
1. The District Court’s Decision
In Molins PLC v. Textron, Inc.,34 an attorney represented two clients, both of whom had applications pending before the PTO
at the same time. The district court held that the first client’s patent was unenforceable because the attorney had failed to
disclose a pending application of the attorney’s second client, which was material to patentability of the first client’s
application.35 The district court held that the attorney’s failure to disclose the co-pending application violated M.P.E.P. §
2001.06(b), which provides that the duty of disclosure includes the “duty to bring to the attention of the examiner ...
information within [the applicant’s] knowledge as to other co-pending United States applications which are ‘material to the
examination’ of the application in question.”36
The district court reasoned that this provision required the attorney to disclose all co-pending applications of the attorney’s
clients that are material to the examination of another client’s application. As a result of the attorney’s failure to disclose the
co-pending application during prosecution, the first client’s patent was held unenforceable due to inequitable conduct.37
2. The Federal Circuit’s Decision
On appeal, a three-judge panel of the Federal Circuit split both on the result and the rationale set forth in the district court’s
opinion. Judge Nies’ dissent stated that she would have affirmed the district court’s determination that the patent was
unenforceable because the attorney’s “representation of clients with conflicting interests provides no justification for
deceiving the PTO. Ethics required him to withdraw.”38 Thus, according to Judge Nies, an attorney who knows that one
client’s application is material to the patentability of another client’s application is required under section 2001.06(b) of the
M.P.E.P. to disclose that information to the PTO or the first client’s patent will be unenforceable. Judge Nies concluded that
the co-pending applications were material information, and thus the district court correctly held that the patent at issue was
unenforceable.39
*341 However, Judge Newman, concurring in part, and Judge Lourie formed the majority on this issue. The majority opinion
reasoned:
The position in which [the attorney] placed himself was one fraught with possible conflict of interest
because [the attorney’s] dual representation of two clients seeking patents in closely related technologies
created a risk of sacrificing the interest of one client for that of the other and of failing to discharge his
duty of candor to the PTO with respect to each client. Whether or not there was a conflict of interest,
however, is not before us, and we express no opinion thereon. Nor do we express any opinion regarding
the apparent conflict between an attorney’s obligations to the PTO and the attorney’s obligations to
clients.40
The majority reversed the district court, holding that the co-pending application was not material. Judge Lourie concluded
that the co-pending application was not material because the undisclosed application was cumulative to a patent that had been
brought to the examiner’s attention.41 While concurring in the result, Judge Newman pointed out that section 2001.06(b) of
the M.P.E.P. did not apply in this case because the applications were owned by different applicants.42 Judge Newman also
stated that the court should not have reached the issue of whether the application was cumulative with the patent that had
been brought to the examiner’s attention because there was no duty to disclose the application in the first instance. Judge
Newman reasoned:

The majority appears to assume that [the attorney] was required to disclose information concerning [the
applicant’s] pending application to the PTO, but for the fact that this subject matter was cumulative .... I
do not see that [ [the attorney] had such an obligation. Indeed, his obligation to preserve the
confidentiality of his client [ ] was absolute. [The attorney] had neither the authority nor obligation to
breach the confidentiality of that client’s pending application, on behalf of a different client.

...[Section] 2001.06(b) does not reach the confidential patent application that an entirely unrelated client happened to entrust
to the same lawyer. An attorney’s ethical obligations to each client are not erased when a possible conflict occurs in the PTO.
That privilege is the client’s not the lawyers. The PTO rules can not be interpreted to require otherwise. ... I stress that
regulations in the M.P.E.P. can not override an attorney’s obligation to preserve the confidences of the client. Thus, although
I share the conclusion that there was no breach of [the attorney’s] duty to the PTO, I reach that conclusion not because of the
substantive differences between the [first client’s] and [second client’s] subject matter, but because [the attorney] and [[the
second client] could not have been charged with improper behavior and the consequences thereof, simply because [the
attorney] respected [the first client’s] confidences.43 *342 Judge Newman emphasized that disclosure of the co-pending
application by the attorney would have been “contrary to the PTO Code of Professional Responsibility,” because the
existence of the application was a confidential matter.44
3. Analysis of the Judges’ Rationales
Molins has been the subject of considerable analysis,45 no doubt because as patent attorneys become “more technically
specialized they prosecute more closely-related patent applications ....”46 As discussed below, much of the analysis set forth in
Molins is largely irrelevant and incorrect.
a. M.P.E.P. § 2001.06(b) Does Not Apply to Different Clients
Judge Newman correctly concluded that section 2001.06(b) does not require a patent attorney to disclose unrelated patent
applications of different clients during prosecution. The thrust of section 2001.06(b), as well as related sections, is to require
the disclosure of co-pending applications of the same inventor or assignee, not of unrelated clients. The example provided in
section 2001.06(b) of the M.P.E.P. illustrates that the duty to disclose co-pending applications specifically relates to
applications owned by the same inventor.47 Likewise, section 2004, which section 2001.06(b) refers to, provides:
Do not rely on the examiner of a particular application to be aware of other applications belonging to the
same applicant or assignee. It is desirable to call such applications to the attention of the examiner even if
there is only a question that they might be “material to patentability” of the application the examiner is
considering. It is desirable to be particularly careful that prior art or other information in one application
is cited to the examiner in other applications to which it would be material. Do not assume that an *343
examiner will necessarily remember, when examining a particular application, other applications which
the examiner is examining, or has examined.48
Finally, at no time does the M.P.E.P. suggest that chapter 2000 is designed to ensure that applications of different clients
being prosecuted by the same attorney are disclosed; it only says that co-pending applications by the same applicant should
be disclosed. If the M.P.E.P intended to codify a duty to disclose co-pending applicants of different clients, the PTO would
have likely provided a hypothetical of an illustrative pattern. Instead, the M.P.E.P. never suggests that such a duty exists.
b. The Duty of Candor Cannot Be Circumvented by a Conflict of Interest
Judge Newman’s statement that the duty of disclosure required by the M.P.E.P. can never trump the obligation of
confidentiality owed to a client goes too far, and also demonstrates that the entire discussion of whether section 2001.06(b)
creates a duty to disclose co-pending applications of different clients is irrelevant to the ultimate question of client
confidentiality. Judge Nies correctly concluded that an attorney who possesses confidential information of one client that
must be disclosed to prosecute another client’s application, must withdraw from representation.

A client’s request to keep information “secret” cannot trump an attorney’s duty of candor to the PTO. A simplified example
based on Molins illustrates this point. Suppose, for example, that a single client with two related and co-pending applications
asks the attorney not to disclose one of the applications during the prosecution of the other application. Clearly, this request,
in light of the confidentiality provisions of 35 U.S.C. § 122, would make the co-pendency a “secret,” which the attorney
cannot reveal. However, the attorney also has an explicit obligation to disclose the second application under M.P.E.P. §
2001.06(b), which inarguably requires disclosure of material, commonly owned applications. An attorney faced with this
dilemma cannot go forward with prosecution; instead, under the PTO Code, the attorney’s only choice is to withdraw.49
The same rule should apply when the confidential information belongs to different clients; the rules make no distinction that
would permit an attorney to commit inequitable conduct on behalf of one client in order to protect the confidences of another.
Thus, as the Restatement provides, if “the attorney cannot perform [the attorney’s] duty to the second client without
disclosing such information or using it to the disadvantage of the first, [the attorney] should decline to act.”50
*344 4. Conclusion
Judge Nies’ view is correct. A patent attorney aware of material information may not violate the attorney’s duty to disclose
merely because the information is privileged, confidential, or “secret.” Instead the attorney must either disclose the
information or withdraw from representation. Judge Newman’s conclusion that the duty of confidentiality does not give way
to the duty of candor is inconsistent with the PTO’s understanding of its own policies and is completely at odds with the PTO
Code.51
Significantly, no issue of “imputation” of knowledge from the attorney to the client is required to hold a patent unenforceable
because of information known only to the attorney, since the attorney has an independent duty of disclosure to the PTO.52
This lack of imputation of knowledge protects attorneys and clients from innocent liability. For example, if an attorney is
aware of a fact, but only the client is aware of information that renders that fact material, the client’s knowledge cannot be
combined with the attorney’s knowledge to create actual knowledge of a material fact. It is also likely that this lack of
imputation of knowledge eliminates antitrust liability that can arise from knowingly seeking to enforce an invalid or
unenforceable patent, because the client must have actual knowledge that the patent is invalid or unenforceable.
However, a client’s knowledge will not alter the fact that an attorney knows material information. If the PTO’s intent were
that only material information known to the client be submitted to fulfill the duty of candor, the PTO would have defined
*345 the scope of individuals covered by Rule 1.56 to include only inventors and assignees. Alternatively, the PTO would
have defined the scope of “information” to exclude information known only to attorneys gained during the course of
representation of other clients. The PTO did neither.
For these reasons, while the result of the majority in Molins is correct, M.P.E.P. § 2001.06(b) is irrelevant to that conclusion.
An attorney’s knowledge of material information must be disclosed, notwithstanding the fact that the attorney may have
gained that knowledge while representing another client who wants to keep the information “secret.” If the attorney may not
disclose the secret information, the attorney’s only recourse is to withdraw from the representation because the attorney is
unable to fulfill the duty of candor. The duty of candor does not “trump” the duty of confidentiality. Therefore, the attorney is
not required to disclose the information. However, the attorney must withdraw from representation of both clients.
IV. Multiple Attorneys in the Same Firm Representing Multiple Clients Face Multiple Risks
Many attorneys practice in firms with other attorneys. A central problem that these attorneys face is that if one attorney learns
confidential information about another firm client that must be disclosed to the PTO, the attorney’s options are (1) to ask the
firm client for permission to disclose the confidential information to the PTO and the attorney’s client, or (2) to withdraw
from representing the attorney’s client. The attorney does not have the option of continuing to prosecute the patent
application without disclosing the attorney’s actual material knowledge, even though this information is the secret or
confidential information of another one of the firm’s clients.
This section analyzes the ethical issues that arise when different attorneys in the same firm are prosecuting patent
applications for different clients at the same time. For example, two different attorneys in the same firm are prosecuting
patent applications for two different clients. Attorney Abby knows confidential client information that is material to a patent

application being prosecuted by attorney Bill. Several questions arise from this hypothetical. First, Abby would be
disqualified from prosecuting the patent application of Bill’s client because Abby would not be able to disclose the
confidential material information. Should this disqualification be imputed to Bill for the purpose of determining conflicts of
interest? Can Abby and Bill’s firm create a Chinese wall to avoid imputed disqualification? Second, and presuming that it is
ethical for Bill to go forward with prosecution of his client’s application without disclosing the information known to Abby,
will the resulting patent prosecuted by Bill be held unenforceable because Abby’s knowledge should have been imputed to
Bill? To avoid acquiring actual knowledge of Bill’s clients, can attorneys at the firm establish a Chinese wall to avoid
discussing patent applications prosecuted for different clients in related fields?
*346 A. Imputed Disqualification Applies to Determine Conflicts of Interest Under the PTO Code
The PTO Code follows the general principle of imputed disqualification: If one attorney in a firm cannot undertake the
representation, no other attorney affiliated with that firm may do so either.53 This issue is called vicarious, or imputed,
disqualification. Most ethical rules, like the PTO Code, impute one attorney’s disqualification to all attorneys affiliated with
that firm.54 The doctrine of imputed disqualification treats the entire firm as if it were a single lawyer. As a result, if one
attorney in a firm cannot represent a client in an ethical manner, all of the other attorneys in the firm are precluded from
representing that client.55
Thus, a critical issue under the PTO Code, is whether an individual attorney’s representation creates a rule violation--if so, it
is then imputed to other attorneys in the firm. It is clear under the PTO Code that if one attorney in a firm were prosecuting a
patent application on an invention for a client, that attorney could not agree to prosecute a patent application covering the
same invention for a different client, since only client would be entitled to the patent for the particular invention, and so the
attorney would plainly be representing different interests. Under the PTO’s rule of vicarious disqualification, no attorney in
the firm could represent the second client in prosecuting that patent. Likewise, in light of the discussion above concerning
Molins, if one attorney in a firm is prosecuting a patent application on behalf of a client and is aware of information that
should be disclosed, but is not in a position to do so because it is the confidential information of another client who will not
consent to its disclosure, no other attorney in the firm may prosecute that patent application.56 The conflict is imputed to all of
the attorneys in the firm.
Certain limitations on imputation disqualification exist in the PTO Code. If the attorney who possesses the information has
no knowledge or involvement with the prosecution of the patent application to which that information is material, no conflict
arises.57 The limitation also applies when the attorney prosecuting the patent application is not aware that another attorney in
the firm possesses information material to the patent prosecution. As a result, there is no conflict to impute to the attorneys in
the firm: whether a violation under Rule 1.56 occurs depends upon whether the prosecuting attorney has actual knowledge of
material information. Therefore, the information cannot first be imputed to the attorney to determine whether his
representation would violate the PTO Code by way of violation of Rule *347 1.56, since that would effectively impute
knowledge for purposes of Rule 1.56, which is incorrect as a matter of law, as shown below.58
But there are still grey areas. For example, where the attorney possessing the information, knows that it is material to an
application being prosecuted by another attorney in the firm, or where the attorney prosecuting the patent application knows
that another attorney in the firm possesses material information (but does not know what it is), a closer question is presented.
A disciplinary violation could occur if the attorney is deemed to be “circumventing” the disclosure requirements of section
1.56;59 or if the attorney is deemed to be “knowingly participating in a material way in giving false or misleading
information” to the PTO;60 or if the attorney is deemed to be engaging in conduct that either “is prejudicial to the
administration of justice,” or which involves “misrepresentation,” or which “adversely reflects on the practitioner’s fitness to
practice before the PTO.”61 Significantly, these rules may be violated unknowingly: Unlike Rule 1.56,62 they do not require
that the attorney act with scienter, or even knowingly.63 For the most part, if the attorney prosecuting a patent application does
not have actual knowledge of information material to the prosecution of the patent application, nondisclosure of this
information does not violate the PTO Code, even if another attorney in the firm is aware of the information.
Assuming attorneys conclude that other attorneys within the firm may have knowledge of information material to
applications being prosecuted by other attorneys in the firm, should they reduce the likelihood that a conflict will be created
by having the prosecuting attorney learn that information through casual conversation or otherwise by establishing a Chinese
wall? The PTO Code has one exception to vicarious disqualification:
If a practitioner is required to decline employment or to withdraw from employment under a Disciplinary

Rule, no partner, or associate, or any other practitioner affiliated with the practitioner’s firm, may accept
or continue such employment unless otherwise ordered by the Director or Commissioner.64
Prior to adopting this rule, the PTO, in administrative proceedings, had sometimes permitted law firms to establish internal
screens to avoid disqualification, *348 and those administrative decisions apparently constitute an “order” by the Director or
Commissioner. This mechanism thus provides a way for law firms to avoid imputed disqualification during administrative
proceedings before the PTO.65
In light of this provision, where one attorney in a firm is prosecuting a patent and actually knows information material to the
application that is confidential to another client, and that client refuses to permit disclosure to the PTO, then the firm may not
unilaterally establish a Chinese wall and permit a different attorney in the firm to continue prosecution of the application. The
rule requires firms to disqualify themselves when one attorney has a conflict, and allows an exception only upon order from
the PTO.66 Because it expressly requires an order from the PTO, by implication this provision eliminates the ability of a firm
to go forward where one of its attorneys is disqualified, requiring the firm to obtain an order from the Director or
Commissioner to do so.67 Therefore, in light of Molins, if one attorney in a firm knows of information and knows that it ought
to be disclosed to the PTO to meet the duty of candor in prosecuting the patent application of another attorney’s client, the
entire firm is disqualified-- absent an order from the PTO permitting the representation.
Screening however, can be helpful to avoid inadvertent disclosure of information to a prosecuting attorney. While nothing in
the PTO Code authorizes their use to eliminate actual conflicts of interest, screening plainly can be used to reduce the
likelihood that they will arise. Nothing in the PTO Code prevents a firm from establishing Chinese walls around the attorneys
who do patent prosecution, to avoid them learning, or disclosing information. However, as noted in the next section, the use
of screens creates issues concerning inequitable conduct.
B. Imputation of Knowledge from Attorneys Affiliated with an Attorney Prosecuting a Patent Should Not Be
Permitted to Determine Inequitable Conduct
Clearly, a person substantively involved in prosecuting a patent application who has “actual knowledge” of facts material to
that application and who fails to disclose that information to the PTO will result in the patent being held unenforceable. It is
also clear, on the opposite end of the spectrum, that a person has no duty to investigate the prior art for material information;
i.e., proof of actual knowledge is required, rather than proof that the person could have or should have known the
information. Thus, merely because one attorney in a firm knows a fact material to *349 the prosecution of a patent
application currently being prosecuted by another attorney in that firm is of no consequence to the enforceability of the
resulting patent, even if the first attorney’s knowledge makes it unethical for the firm to prosecute the application.
Unfortunately, principles of imputed knowledge have been applied to find inequitable conduct. Under this approach,
knowledge of each attorney in a firm will be imputed to every other attorney in the firm, and a patent may be held
unenforceable when the firm, but not the individual attorney who prosecuted the patent application, knew undisclosed
material information. Cases have held that imputation is proper,68 and commentators have likewise concluded that imputation
is appropriate.69
For example, in W.R. Grace & Co. v. Western U.S. Industries, Inc.,70 the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit
(“Ninth Circuit”) affirmed the district court’s finding that a patent is unenforceable, as a matter of law, because of knowledge
imputed among corporate employees.71 In W.R. Grace, Grace sought to overcome a rejection during prosecution of the patent
at issue by submitting an affidavit showing that its design for car wheels had achieved commercial success.72 In the affidavit,
the president of the relevant division, Mr. Merritt, swore that only minor advertising had been done for the particular design.73
Therefore, Grace argued, the commercial success of the design was due to its merits, not advertising.74 The argument
succeeded and the patent issued to Grace.75
*350 When Grace brought suit for patent infringement, the defendants responded that the affidavit was false, because Grace
had significantly advertised the design.76 Therefore, the defendants asserted that Grace’s patent was unenforceable.77 The
district court agreed, and the Ninth Circuit affirmed on appeal:
Merritt admits he erred in the affidavit, but insists it was only because he personally misunderstood his
subordinates’ reports about the advertising. Grace thus argues that there was a jury question presented on

scienter. It is important to remember, however, that the plaintiff and patent holder here is not Merritt, but
a corporation, Grace. Under well established agency doctrines a corporate principal is considered to know
what its agents discover concerning those matters in which the agents have the power to bind the
principal. And even when an agent has no reason to know the falsity of the representations he or she
makes, the principal is liable if it knows the falsity and has reason to know the agent would make the
statement. Under these rules, Grace clearly must answer for intentional or reckless misrepresentation as a
matter of law. The evidence was undisputed that some agent of Grace had to know about the
corporation’s advertising for the wheels; thus, Grace must be said to have known it. And even if we
assume that Merritt himself harbored no doubts about the truth of his affidavit ... on this record the
corporation, which knew the truth and had ample reason to know of Merritt’s actions and statements,
must be said as a matter of law to have known that the statements were false.78
Despite the holding of W.R. Grace, imputing knowledge to find inequitable conduct is inappropriate, which other courts have
recognized.79 Information known by one attorney in a firm should not be imputed to the client of another attorney in the same
firm.80 Further, as discussed below, the PTO rules demonstrate that imputation is not appropriate to determine compliance
with Rule 1.56, which strongly indicates that inequitable conduct should not be based on imputed knowledge.
Rule 1.56 provides that “[e]ach individual associated with the filing and prosecution of a patent application has a duty of
candor and good faith in dealing with the [PTO], which includes a duty to disclose to the [PTO] all information known to that
individual to be material to patentability as defined in this section.”81 Significantly, Rule 1.56 defines “individuals associated
with the filing or prosecution of a patent application” as:
*351 (1) Each inventor named in the application;

(2) Each attorney or agent who prepares or prosecutes the application; and
(3) Every other person who is substantively involved in the preparation or prosecution of the application and who is
associated with the inventor, with the assignee or with anyone to whom there is an obligation to assign the application.82
Thus, the M.P.E.P. does not extend the duty of disclosure to those who merely belong to an organization that employs: (1) the
inventor; (2) the prosecuting attorney; or (3) every person substantively involved in prosecuting the patent. Instead, the
M.P.E.P. emphasizes that the:
word ‘with’ appears before ‘the assignee’ and ‘anyone to whom there is an obligation to assign’ to make clear that the duty
applies only to individuals, not to organizations. For instance, the duty of disclosure would not apply to a corporation or
institution as such. However, it would apply to individuals within the corporation or institution who were substantively
involved in the preparation or prosecution of the application, and actions by such individuals may affect the rights of the
corporation or institution.83
Consistent with this concept, the M.P.E.P. does not permit an entire firm to appear as counsel for patent applicants.84 Instead,
individuals or a list of attorneys from a firm specifically authorized to transact business with the PTO on behalf of a client
must be filed and maintained with the PTO.85 Thus, the PTO does not permit firms to be responsible for prosecuting patents;
rather, it requires named individuals to be responsible.
Thus, the PTO has interpreted the duty of candor to apply only to individuals substantively involved in prosecuting patent
applications--not to organizations--by refusing to give organizations the authority to prosecute patents. The PTO essentially
rejects the notion of imputation by rejecting the entity theory. Under the PTO’s interpretation, the fact that one attorney
knows of information material to a client’s application prosecuted by another attorney in the firm is simply irrelevant.
Unfortunately, the M.P.E.P.’s clarity is not the final answer and as noted above, the case law is in disarray. Although the
M.P.E.P. “is well known to those registered to practice in the PTO and reflects the presumptions under which the PTO
operates,” the M.P.E.P. “does not have the force of law.”86 In light of the conflicting cases, one commentator concludes that it
“is unclear whether ... this knowledge is imputed to the attorney’s entire firm.”87

*352 Thus, the question remains: Should firms be able to create Chinese walls without the approval of the PTO in order to
avoid imputation of knowledge, for the purpose of determining inequitable conduct?
C. Chinese Walls May Create Circumstances that Justify Finding an Intent to Deceive the PTO
As a general rule, an applicant has no duty to conduct a prior art search to determine whether the invention is new and
non-obvious. Consequently, there is no duty to disclose art that the applicant could have or should have been aware of.
However, “one should not be able to cultivate ignorance, or disregard numerous warnings that material information or prior
art may exist, merely to avoid actual knowledge of that information or prior art. When one does that, the ‘should have
known’ factor becomes operative.”88
An attorney who knows that a reference exists, and has been repeatedly warned or advised that it is material to a client’s
patent application, runs the risk of being accused of inequitable conduct if the attorney does not investigate the materiality of
the reference. The attorney has a duty to investigate because the attorney knows of the importance of the reference. Thus, the
issue is not “could have” or “should have” known of the reference because the attorney did know of the reference, even if the
attorney did not have actual knowledge of the content of the reference. Attorneys cannot bury their heads in the sand in the
face of repeated warnings of the existence and materiality of information.89 Consistent with this case law, under the PTO
Code, *353 an attorney “who acts with reckless indifference to whether a representation is true or false is chargeable with
knowledge of its falsity.”90
With these principles in mind, the problem of using Chinese walls to avoid conflicts during patent prosecution91 is obvious: A
firm will only use a Chinese wall to segregate one set of prosecuting attorneys from another set because the first set of
attorneys knows information that may be important to the second set. The attorneys screened from the information must have
had reason to know that the information is important to their own representations. Indeed, in order for the attorneys to know
what they are not to discuss, they must be warned not to discuss the content of patent applications amongst themselves.92
Well-established jurisprudence has found that Chinese walls cannot effectively function without the attorneys knowing what
information they should or should not discuss with their colleagues.93 For these reasons, Chinese walls may be considered a
mere attempt to “cultivate ignorance” in order to avoid acquiring actual knowledge of material information or prior art. Thus,
an alleged infringer may argue that the Chinese wall implemented by a firm is simply evidence of an intent to prevent the
firm’s attorneys from fulfilling their duty to the PTO. To the extent that attorneys choose to use these devices to allow them
to prosecute related patents for different clients, attorneys should consider whether to advise their clients of the risks
involved, as well as seek appropriate consent of the clients.
V. Conclusion
Patent prosecution involves unique and complex attorney-client relationships. Yet, the fundamental precepts that universally
apply to attorney-client relationships also apply to patent prosecution attorneys and their clients. Attorneys must be candid
with respect to material information when dealing with third parties, and cannot *354 represent parties when they are unable
to be candid. The duty of candor and the PTO Code require nothing less.
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